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INTRODUCTION

On July 30, 2012, the Assistant Secretary – Indian Affairs (“ASIA”) for the United States

Department of the Interior (“Department” or “DOI”) issued a letter announcing his intent (“2012

Decision”) to take a 2.03 acre tract of land located in Cherokee County within the Cherokee

Nation’s historical treaty territory into trust for gaming purposes (“Gaming Tract”). Doc. 28-4,

AR17-26. As stated in the resulting August 7, 2012, Federal Register notice (“2012 Notice”),

the proposed trust beneficiary is “the United Keetoowah Band of Oklahoma Corporation”

(“UKB Corporation”). Doc. 2, Complaint, Ex. 2. (emphasis added). The 2012 Notice stated the

Gaming Tract would not be taken into trust until 30 days after the date of the notice “to afford

interested parties the opportunity to seek judicial review of final administrative decisions to take

land in trust for Indian tribes and individual Indians before transfer of title to the property

occurs.”

The Cherokee Nation (“Nation”) and Cherokee Nation Entertainment (“CNE”)

(collectively “Cherokee Plaintiffs”) brought this action challenging the 2012 Decision on August

29, 2012. Doc. 2. Their complaint expressly sought a temporary, preliminary and permanent

injunction “prohibiting the Secretary from accepting the Subject Tract [Gaming Tract] into trust

since there exists no legal authority empowering him to do so." Id. at 33-34.

On September 5, 2012, DOI sent a letter (“Self-stay Letter”) to the Cherokee Nation

Attorney General stating that DOI “will not act imminently on its decision” and DOI “will

deliver to the Cherokee Nation at least thirty (30) days written notice by certified mail, return

receipt requested, in advance of taking the land into trust during the pendency of this action

before the district court.” See Exhibit A to Todd Hembree Declaration (attached as Exhibit 1)

(“Hembree Declaration”).
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On July 15, 2013, the Cherokee Nation received a letter (“Self-stay Revocation Letter”)

informing the Nation that DOI “will complete the acquisition thirty (30) days following receipt

[by the Nation] of this notice letter.” Doc. 76-1. DOI noted that “[o]n July 30, 2013, the one-

year grace period will expire and the gaming facility must shut down.” According to the letter,

the State denied a request for an extension of the grace period on July 12, 2013. Thus, unless the

UKB obtains injunctive relief in the Eastern District or elects to operate its casino illegally, the

UKB casino on the Gaming Tract will be shut down on or about July 31, 2013.

In the absence of immediate injunctive relief from this Court, on August 14, 2013, DOI

will transfer title to the Gaming Tract into the name of the United States in trust for the UKB

Corporation. Cherokee Plaintiffs seek a temporary restraining order and/or preliminary

injunction enjoining the transfer of title pending resolution on the merits of this action.

BACKGROUND

A. Cherokee Nation Government and Treaty Territory.

The Cherokee Nation is a federally recognized Indian tribe with a constitutional form of

government dating back to 1827 and a long history of treaty relations with the United States.

The Cherokee Nation has maintained a continuous government-to-government relationship with

the United States and has exercised governmental functions since the earliest history of the

United States. Doc. 36-3, AR3593, citing CN Ex. 9 at 2; and Pub. L. No. 107-331 (2002), 25

U.S.C. § 1779(3). In 1835 and 1866 the United States entered into treaties expressly protecting

the Nation’s governmental authority1 over the Nation's territorial area defined in its treaties and

1 The Treaty of December 29, 1835, 7 Stat. 478 (Proclamation, May 23, 1836) (“1835
Treaty”), art 5, expressly guaranteed the Nation the right to self-governance within its treaty
territory, so long as consistent with the Constitution and laws enacted by Congress regulating
trade with Indians. This guarantee was protected by the Treaty of July 19, 1866, 14 Stat. 799

Case 4:12-cv-00493-GKF-TLW   Document 78 Filed in USDC ND/OK on 07/23/13   Page 8 of 33



3

owned in fee by the Nation in Indian Territory.2 The Department recognized these treaty

protections in a 1993 “Indian lands opinion” issued by the Tulsa Field Solicitor3: “With little

exception, the exterior boundaries of the present Cherokee Nation were agreed to by the terms of

the [1835] Treaty of New Echota . . .” Id. The 1993 opinion concluded that, “Historically, the

Cherokee Nation has exercised governmental authority over the fourteen county area . . .”

(“Treaty Territory”). Id. The Nation’s Treaty Territory includes Tahlequah, the historic and

present site of the Cherokee Nation Capitol, in Cherokee County.

B. The UKB and the UKB Corporation.

The UKB never maintained a treaty relationship with the United States and never held

title to the lands owned in fee by the Cherokee Nation. In 1945 the Acting Secretary of the

Interior informed Congress that the Department declined the UKB’s request to organize under

the Oklahoma Indian Welfare Act, 25 U.S.C. §501 et seq. (“OIWA”) because the Department

could not make a positive finding that they were a tribe or band within the meaning of the

OIWA. Letter of March 24, 1945 from the Acting Secretary to Chairman Jackson, Committee

on Indian Affairs, reprinted in H.R. Rep. No. 79-447, at 2 (1945) and S. Rep. No. 79-978, at 3

(1946). Congress authorized the UKB's organization the following year by approving the Act of

August 10, 1946, Pub. L. No. 79-715, § 1, 60 Stat. 976 (“1946 Act”), which simply provides:

(Proclamation August 11, 1866) (“1866 Treaty”), art 13, which reaffirmed and declared in full
force all provisions of prior treaties not inconsistent with the provisions of the 1866 Treaty.
2 The Nation acquired fee patent title to its new lands in 1838 as required by the 1835
Treaty. The Nation’s land base was later reduced, due to cessions of lands in western Indian
Territory under the Treaty of July 19, 1866, 14 Stat. 799 (Proclamation August 11, 1866) (“1866
Treaty”) and cessions of the Nation’s Cherokee Outlet lands under an agreement ratified by Act
of March 3, 1893, ch. 209, 27 Stat. 612, 640, § 10.
3 The Tulsa Field Solicitor determined in the 1993 opinion that lands within the Cherokee
Nation’s territory as established by treaties constitute Cherokee Nation “former reservation”
lands for purposes of applying the after acquired Indian lands exception in IGRA, 25 U.S.C. §
2719(a)(2)(A)(i). NIGC has classified the 1993 opinion as an “Indian Lands Opinion.” See NIGC
website’s “Reading Room/Indian Lands Opinions/Cherokee Nation” link at
http://www.nigc.gov/Reading_Room/Indian_Land_Opinions.aspx.
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“That the Keetoowah Indians of the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma shall be recognized as a band

of Indians residing in Oklahoma within the meaning of section 3 of the Act of June 26, 1936.”4

(emphasis added) The UKB organized under section 3 of the OIWA, 25 U.S.C. § 503, in 1950,

with a federally approved constitution. Doc. 45, AR1749-1758. The UKB Corporation was

approved at the same election under authority of section 3 of the OIWA. Id. The UKB and the

UKB Corporation are separate and distinct legal entities.5 The UKB Constitution and the UKB

Corporation's charter make no claims to any geographic or territorial jurisdiction.

C. The UKB's Illegal Gaming Operations in the Cherokee Nation's
Treaty Territory.

The UKB has conducted gaming on the Gaming Tract (which was and remains fee land)

since 1986, 6 Doc. 28-4, AR18, in violation of federal and state law, including the Indian

Gaming Regulatory Act (“IGRA”), 25 U.S.C. §§ 2701-2721, the Oklahoma State-Tribal Gaming

Act, 3A O.S. §§261-282 and various state criminal laws (e.g. 21 O.S. §§941-42).

In 2000, the NIGC Chairman determined that the Gaming Tract is not Indian country,

that the UKB has no jurisdiction over the tract, that the tract does not constitute “Indian lands”

under IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2703(4), and that UKB gaming activity there is not subject to IGRA.

4 The 1946 Act's recognition of the UKB as a “band” for purposes of organization under
the OIWA placed the UKB in no greater legal position than the Kialegee Tribal Town, which the
Department administratively determined to a “band” for the same organizational purposes. Just
as the Kialegee is only a subset “band” of the Muscogee (Creek) Nation, the UKB is only a
subset “band” of the Cherokee Nation. See Oklahoma v. Hobia, Op. and Order, 2012 WL
2995044 at *1-8, 14-19 (N.D. Okla. July 20, 2012).
5 See Memphis Biofuels, LLC v. Chickasaw Nation Indus., Inc., 585 F.3d 917, 918 (6th Cir.
2009) (Chickasaw Nation Industries, Inc., a “federally chartered tribal corporation” under section
503 of the OIWA, “is wholly owned by the Chickasaw Nation tribe but is an entity separate and
distinct from the Chickasaw Nation.”); See also Gaines v. Ski Apache, 8 F.3d 726, 729 (10th
Cir. 1993) and Native Am. Distrib. v. Seneca-Cayuga Tobacco Co., 491 F. Supp. 2d 1056, 1059
(N.D. Okla. 2007) (the tribal constitutional and corporate entities organized under §476 and §
476 of the IRA are separate and distinct entities.)
6 The UKB purchased the tract through installment payments and received title by
warranty deed executed on November 30, 1990 and recorded on January 2, 1991.

Case 4:12-cv-00493-GKF-TLW   Document 78 Filed in USDC ND/OK on 07/23/13   Page 10 of 33



5

Doc. 45, AR1974-1979. In 2004, after the State of Oklahoma sought to close the facility for

violation of state gaming laws, the UKB filed a federal suit seeking injunctive relief. United

Keetoowah Band v. Oklahoma, E.D. Okla. No. 04-cv-340. In January 2006, the Court found that

the NIGC failed to consider important aspects in rendering the 2000 decision, set aside that

decision, and remanded the matter to the NIGC. Doc. 46, AR2791. The UKB filed its

application to place the Gaming Tract in trust on April 10, 2006, Doc. 45, AR1650-1799.

Five years later, in May 2011, the Oklahoma Attorney General urged the NIGC

Chairman to “give this pressing matter your prompt attention . . .” The Attorney General noted

that the 2006 order in United Keetoowah Band v. Oklahoma prevented the state from enforcing

state laws on the Gaming Tract, thereby precluding the state from protecting its citizens “from

what it considers an illegal gaming operation.” Id. Finally, on July 21, 2011, the NIGC

Chairman sent a letter to the UKB, Cherokee Nation, and the Oklahoma Attorney General, again

opining that the non-trust gaming site is not “Indian land” eligible for gaming under IGRA. Doc.

46, AR2790-2792. The memorandum stated that the NIGC does not have jurisdiction to regulate

the gaming activities on the Gaming Tract, and that the Department’s Office of the Solicitor

concurred with the opinion. Doc. 46, AR2790-92. The UKB amended the Gaming Tract

application in August 2011 to request that the Gaming Tract be taken by the United States into

trust for either the UKB or the UKB Corporation.7 Doc. 45, AR2161.

Almost a year later, the Court issued an Agreed Order in United Keetoowah Band v.

Oklahoma that required the UKB to cease all gaming activities on the tract "until such time, if

The Secretary issued four decisions involving the 76-acre non-gaming tract that laid the
groundwork for the 2012 Decision on June 24, 2009, Doc. 35-4, AR3234-3246; July 30, 2009,
Doc.45, AR2219-2222; September 10, 2010 (“2010 Decision”), Doc. 35-4, AR3253-3257; and
January 21, 2011, Doc. 45, AR2229-2230. See Motion for Supplementation of the Record, Doc.
49.
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ever, as a favorable land into trust decision" was issued, subject to the limitation that if “for any

reason the Land [Gaming Tract] is not actually held in trust by the United States one year after

the decision to accept the Land into trust was issued,” the UKB must cease gaming on the

Gaming Tract “until such time, if ever,” the tract is “actually taken into trust by the United States

. . .” United Keetoowah Band v. Oklahoma, Case No. 04-cv-340, ECF Doc. 148. Under this

Agreed Order, the UKB must close its casino on July 31, 2013, because no trust deed has been

issued, or can be issued under the terms of the Self-Stay Letter, by July 30, 2013

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Injunctive relief is appropriate when the Plaintiffs demonstrate “(1) a likelihood of

success on the merits; (2) a likelihood that the movant will suffer irreparable harm in the absence

of preliminary relief; (3) that the balance of equities tips in the movant’s favor; and (4) that the

injunction is in the public’s interest.” Oklahoma v. Hobia, Op. and Order, 2012 WL 2995044

(citing Crowe & Dunlevy, P.C. v. Stidham, 640 F.3d 1140, 1157 (10th Cir. 2011)). The same

standard applies to the issuance of temporary restraining orders. See e.g., Kansas Hosp. Ass’n v.

Whiteman, 835 F.Supp. 1548, 1551 (D.Kan. 1993). The Cherokee Plaintiffs are entitled to a

temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction under this standard.

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITY

A. Plaintiffs Are Likely to Succeed on the Merits.

1. A Determination of Likelihood of Success Is Subject to the
APA Standard of Review.

There is a strong likelihood of Cherokee Plaintiffs' success on the merits in this case

under the Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), because the 2012 Decision

includes a number of conclusions that are not in accordance with the law, are in excess of
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statutory authority, and are without observance of procedure required by law. The 2012

Decision is also arbitrary and capricious under the APA, § 707(2). Agency action is “arbitrary

and capricious” under the APA if the agency (1) entirely failed to consider an important aspect of

the problem, (2) offered an explanation for its decision that runs counter to the evidence before

the agency, or is so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the

product of agency expertise, (3) failed to base its decision on consideration of the relevant

factors, or (4) made a clear error of judgment. See Hillsdale Env. Loss Prevention, Inc. v. U.S.

Army Corps of Eng’rs, 702 F.3d 1156, 1165 (10th Cir. 2012), citing New Mexico ex rel.

Richardson v. Bureau of Land Mgmt, 565 F.3d 683, 704 (10th Cir. 2009).

2. The 2012 Decision Relies on Unprecedented and Legally
Unsupported Rationales Advanced by the Department for the
First Time in a Trust Application Approval.

At the time the ASIA issued his 2012 Decision, a Departmental “briefing paper” was

circulated. The paper identified “Noteworthy Issues” addressed in the 2012 Decision and stated:

This decision and the one already made on the 76-acres are the first to find
authority to acquire land in trust pursuant to section 3 of the OIWA. These
decisions marks [sic] the first trust acquisitions approved for a tribal corporation
of a tribe first recognized after 1934.

This decision is the first time the Department has recognized two tribes as having
the same former reservation for purposes of qualifying for the exception in IGRA
for acquiring land in trust after 1988.

Doc. 43-6, AR4380 (emphasis added); see also Doc. 72. Clearly, even the ASIA recognizes that

these decisions deviate from established federal law, court decisions and the Department's own

policies and regulations. The decisions are “so implausible that [they] could not be ascribed to a

difference in view or the product of agency expertise.” Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of U.S., Inc. v.

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983).

Case 4:12-cv-00493-GKF-TLW   Document 78 Filed in USDC ND/OK on 07/23/13   Page 13 of 33



8

3. The ASIA’s Determination That the Department Has the
Authority to Accept the Gaming Tract in Trust for the UKB
Corporation is Contrary to Law.

The ASIA's decision that the OIWA authorizes a trust acquisition for the UKB

Corporation is contrary to law. The ASIA developed this theory to circumvent the Supreme

Court’s ruling in Carcieri v. Salazar, 555 U.S. 379 (2009), which was decided while the UKB’s

2006 Gaming Tract trust application was pending. In Carcieri, the Court held that DOI cannot

accept land into trust under section 5 of the IRA8 for any Indian tribe that was not “under federal

jurisdiction” in 1934. Id. at 382-83. The ASIA acknowledges the UKB was organized in 1950,

but concludes that “land could be taken into trust on the former Cherokee reservation for the

UKB Corporation.” Doc. 28-4, AR 22 (emphasis added). As the “briefing paper” stated: “the

Assistant Secretary determined that he could acquire land in trust for the UKB Corporation under

the OIWA so the temporal limitation on acquiring land in the IRA that the Supreme Court found

in the Carcieri decision did not apply.” Doc. 43-6, AR4380.

In attempting to circumvent Carcieri, the ASIA erroneously determined that section 3 of

the OIWA “implicitly authorizes the Secretary to take land into trust for the UKB Corporation.”

Doc. 28-4, AR22 (emphasis added). However, that section provides that charters approved by

the Secretary “may convey to the incorporated group . . . any other rights or privileges secured to

an organized Indian tribe” under the IRA. 25 U.S.C. § 503. Thus, it merely grants tribal

corporations the same rights as the tribes themselves—not greater rights. Because Carcieri

makes clear the UKB has no right to have the land taken into trust under § 5 of the IRA, § 3 of

the OIWA does not create such a right for the benefit of the UKB Corporation. Indeed, the

8 Section 5 of the IRA states in pertinent part: “Title to any lands or rights acquired
pursuant to this Act or the Act of July 28, 1955, as amended shall be taken in the name of the
United States in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian for which the land is acquired, and
such lands or rights shall be exempt from State and local taxation. 25 U.S.C. § 465 (emphasis
added).
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Department failed to apply its own trust acquisition regulations, 9 which expressly acknowledge

limitations on acquisitions for federal chartered corporations in the regulatory definition of

“tribe:”

. . . For purposes of acquisitions made under the authority of 25 U.S.C. 488 and
489, or other statutory authority which specifically authorizes trust acquisitions
for such corporations, “Tribe” also means a corporation chartered under section
17 of the Act of June 18, 1934 (48 Stat. 988, 25 U.S.C. § 477) or section 3 of the
Act of June 26, 1936 (49 Stat. 1967; 25 U.S.C. § 503).

25 C.F.R. 151.2(b) (emphasis added). The ASIA concedes that these circumstances are not

present in this case.

These specific limitations on the ASIA’s authority to acquire land in trust for a chartered

tribal corporation confirm the Department’s understanding that a federal chartered tribal

corporation may acquire trust property only when expressly authorized by law. Section 3 of the

OIWA does not mention trust acquisitions at all, either for a tribe or a tribal corporation, but

rather cross-references section 5 of the IRA, which in turn authorizes trust acquisitions for tribes,

but not for tribal corporations. The Department’s recognition that the IRA and the OIWA do not

provide statutory authority for trust acquisitions for federal chartered tribal corporations is

addressed succinctly in the 1980 comment accompanying the final regulatory definition of

“tribe” in 25 C.F.R. § 151.2(b):

Another criticism of this definition was its failure to include tribal corporations.
Tribal corporations were not included because the acquisition authority in the
Indian Reorganization Act is limited to an “Indian tribe or individual Indian”;
however, it has been pointed out that other statutory authority does provide for the
acquisition of land in trust for tribal corporations; namely section 2 of Public Law
91-229 (84 Stat. 120; 25 U.S.C. § 489). In view of this, the definition has been
changed to include corporations for limited purposes.”

9 The 2012 Decision purportedly approved the UKB’s application to accept land
into trust under 25 C.F.R. Part 151, which sets forth the “authorities, policy, and procedures
governing the acquisition of land by the United States in trust status for individual Indians and
tribes.” 25 C.F.R. § 151.1; Doc. 28-4, AR 21.
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45 Fed. Reg. 62034 (Sept. 18, 1980) (emphasis added). It is significant that the Department

did not interpret the “other rights or privileges” provisions in section 3 of the OIWA as

authorizing trust acquisitions by corporations chartered under section 3; otherwise, the references

in §151.2(b) to specific authorizing statutes would have included section 3.10

The ASIA’s finding that section 3 of the OIWA “implicitly authorizes” a trust acquisition

for a federal chartered tribal corporation is contrary to the legally binding land acquisition

regulations which have governed trust acquisitions for more than 30 years. “When an agency

departs from a prior interpretation of a statute that it is charged with implementing, the agency

must justify the change of interpretation with a ‘reasoned analysis’.” Public Lands Council v.

Babbitt, 167 F.3d 1287, 1306 (10th Cir. 1999) (quoting Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n, 264 U.S. at

42.) There is no reasoned analysis here. The regulations, 25 C.F.R. § 151.2(b), authorize the

ASIA to take land into trust for a chartered corporation if a statute specifically authorizes such

action. The ASIA found only “implicit” authority to take the land into trust for the UKB

Corporation. As such, the ASIA’s decision is contrary to his authority under the regulations.

Put simply, the ASIA is permitted to acquire land in trust only for “an individual Indian or [a]

tribe” under 25 C.F.R. §151.3, and the UKB Corporation does not meet the definition of “tribe”

in § 151.2(b). Thus, the law and implementing regulations do not permit the ASIA to take land

into trust for the UKB Corporation.

10 After all, ‘[c]ommon sense, reflected in the canon expressio unius est exclusio alterius,
suggests that the specification of [one provision] implies’ the exclusion of others.” Elwell v.
Oklahoma ex rel. Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Okla., 693 F.3d 1303, 1312 (10th Cir. 2012),
(quoting Arizona v. United States, __ U.S.__, 132 S.Ct. 2492, 2520 (2012).
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4. The ASIA’s Determination that the Cherokee Nation’s
“Former Reservation” is Shared by the UKB Is Contrary to
Law.

The 2012 Decision found for the first time that “the former reservation of the Cherokee

Nation is also the former reservation of the UKB.” Doc. 28-4, AR21. This finding enabled the

ASIA to avoid the more stringent requirements for acquiring off-reservation lands for gaming

purposes after October 17, 1988 under IGRA, 25 U.S.C. §2719(b)(1)(A), including the

Governor's concurrence. The ASIA also relied on this finding to conclude that “. . . the

regulatory requirement for consent11 of the Cherokee Nation is no longer applicable." Doc. 28-4,

AR21. The “shared reservation” finding and the resulting conclusions are contrary to law and

are arbitrary and capricious.

IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2719, prohibits gaming on land acquired in trust after October 17,

1988 unless one of several specific requirements is met. Section 2719(b)(1)(A) contains more

stringent requirements for acquisitions that are not on the Indian tribe’s reservation. These

requirements can be avoided, however, if the tribe has no reservation and the land is in

Oklahoma and “within the boundaries of the Indian tribe’s former reservation, as defined by the

Secretary . . . .” 25 U.S.C. § 2719(a)(2)(A)(i)). (emphasis added). Doc. 28-4, AR20. 25 C.F.R.

§292.2 defines “former reservation” as the “last reservation that was established by treaty,

Executive Order, or Secretarial Order for an Oklahoma tribe.”

The 2012 Decision applied the less stringent requirement in §2719(a)(2)(A)(i) by issuing

a determination that the former reservation of the Cherokee Nation is also the former reservation

of the UKB for the purposes of applying the “former reservation” exception. The ASIA

11 The referenced regulation, 25 C.F.R. § 151.8 provides that an Indian tribe “may acquire
land in trust status on a reservation other than its own only when the governing body of the tribe
having jurisdiction over such reservation consents in writing to the acquisition.” The Cherokee
Nation does not consent, and has never consented, to UKB acquisition of trust lands within the
Nation's Treaty Territory.
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bypassed the regulatory definition of “former reservation” by erroneously finding that the

“express language” of IGRA “makes it clear” “that the determination of whether the land is

within the boundaries of the tribe’s former reservation is a determination for the Secretary to

make,” implying such determinations are to be made on a case by case basis. Doc. 28-4, AR20.

In reaching this decision, the ASIA essentially applied a successor-in-interest theory,

although that term was avoided. The ASIA found, with no consideration of the Cherokee

Nation’s treaty history, that “[t]here is no question that the UKB occupied the former Cherokee

reservation nor that the Keetoowah Society of Oklahoma Cherokees was formed out of the

Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma.” Doc. 28-4, AR20. The ASIA based this conclusion on (1)“the

origins of the Band [UKB] as composed of Cherokee Indians,” which the ASIA mischaracterized

as “separately recognized under express authorization from Congress,” and (2) the UKB

constitution’s establishment of UKB tribal headquarters in Tahlequah “within the historic

reservation boundaries.” Doc. 28-4, AR20. (emphasis added) If the ASIA had correctly applied

the regulatory definition in 25 C.F.R. §292.2, he would have reached the inescapable conclusion

that no treaty, executive order or Secretarial order ever established a reservation for the UKB,

and the UKB accordingly has no “former reservation” as defined by the regulations.

The 2012 Decision clearly recognized the existence of past court and Departmental

rulings concerning the lack of UKB territorial jurisdiction, as follows:

The history of the UKB has been discussed at length in Assistant Secretary
decisions, Associate Solicitor opinions and Federal court orders, such as that of
March 3, 1992 in Buzzard v. Oklahoma Tax Commission, 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
22864 (N.D. Okla., March 3, 1992), and thus only the background relevant to the
limited question of whether the parcel is within the former reservation of the UKB
within the meaning of Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA) and the
Department's regulations at Parts 151 and 292 is discussed below.

Doc. 28-4, AR17. The 2012 Decision described the UKB history in a single paragraph,

explaining that the UKB was merely "an organization of Cherokee Indians" and that they were
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not allowed to organize under the OIWA until Congress enacted the 1946 Act. Doc. 28-4,

AR18. The ASIA then summarily concluded that there is “no question” that the UKB occupied

the Cherokee Nation’s “former reservation” and that the UKB “was formed out of the Cherokee

Nation.” Id.

The "shared reservation" finding in the 2012 Decision is also contrary to law as

established in three decisions of this Court. In United Keetoowah Band v. Sec'y of the Interior,

No. 90-cv-608-B (N.D. Okla. May 31, 1991), , this Court ruled that: (1) the BIA “has determined

that the subject lands of the old Cherokee Reservation are under the jurisdiction of the new

Cherokee Nation, not the UKB;” (2) “[a]s to the old Cherokee Reservation lands, the ASIA has

recognized one sovereign (Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma) over another (UKB);” (3) “[p]rior

case law indicates that neither Congress, the Secretary of the Interior, nor the courts have made a

distinction between the Cherokee Nation at the time of Oklahoma statehood and the current

Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma;” and (4) “[t]he federal government has long recognized the

special interests of the Cherokee Nation in these lands [i.e., "all ‘Indian Country’ within its

former reservation”] . . .” Doc. 30-17, Ex. 4, AR458-469.

This Court reached the same conclusions in Buzzard v. Oklahoma Tax Commission, No.

90-C-848-B (N.D. Okla. Feb. 24, 1992), aff'd, 992 F.2d 1073 (10th Cir. 1993).

The UKB . . . offers no authority to support its claim that it is heir to the original
Cherokee Indian Reservation. The Act of August 10, 1946 simply recognizes the
UKB as a “band of Indians residing in Oklahoma”; it does not set aside a
reservation for the UKB or acknowledge the UKB’s jurisdiction over the original
Cherokee Indian Reservation. Also, while the Act’s recognition of the UKB
permitted the UKB to incorporate under Section 3 of the [Oklahoma Indian
Welfare Act], nothing in Section 3 creates or recognizes the UKB’s claim to the
original Cherokee Indian Reservation.

Doc. 32-3, AR1263. at 8 (emphasis added).
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In United Keetoowah Band v, Mankiller, No. 92-C-585-B (N.D. Okla. Jan. 27, 1993),

aff'd, 2 F.3d 1161, 1993 WL 307937, (10th Cir. 1993), the Court held that the UKB’s claim that

its smoke shops were not subject to the Nation’s authority “directly attack[ed] the sovereignty of

the Cherokee Nation over the subject land . . .” Doc. 30-17, CN Ex. 8, AR528. The Court noted

that it had “previously decided that the Cherokee Nation is the only tribal entity with

jurisdictional authority in Indian Country within the Cherokee Nation,” and that it had

“previously determined . . . that the Cherokee Nation's sovereignty is preeminent to that of the

UKB in Cherokee Nation Indian Country.” Doc. 30-17, CN Ex. 8, AR529.

The 2012 Decision is not only contrary to law, it is also implausible in light of the

Department's consistent recognition that the Cherokee Nation possesses jurisdiction exclusive of

any other tribe over Indian country within its treaty territory. See Buzzard, Doc. 32-3, AR1263-

1264.12 The 2012 Decision provided no explanation at all as to how its new finding that the

12 See Doc. 30-17, AR450-452, Ex. 1, (1987 Secretarial decision finding that the 1946 Act
did not create a reservation for the UKB or purport to give the UKB any authority to assert
jurisdiction, that the UKB “has never had a reservation in Oklahoma, that the Band has never
exercised independent governing authority over any of the Cherokee Nation's reservation lands,”
and that the UKB could not take land into trust without Cherokee Nation consent); Doc. 30-17,
AR454, 456, Ex. 2 at 1 and Ex. 3 at 1 (1988 and 1989 letters from Regional Director reiterating
that conclusion); Doc. 36-3, AR 3609, citing CN Ex. 66 (1991 letter from the Secretary of the
Interior stating that although the 1946 Act “may have permitted the United Keetoowah Band to
organize as a band of Cherokees within the Cherokee Nation, the Congress never intended to
create a duplicative or competing Cherokee tribal government, or to supplement the Cherokee
Nation's governance”); Doc. 30-17, AR533, Ex. 9 (2002 Regional Director letter stating that the
“UKB is not the Cherokee Nation nor does the UKB have any claim as a successor or have
interest as an entity of the Cherokee Nation”); Doc. 30-17, AR535-538, 540-545, 546-548, Ex.
10, 11 and 12 (2002 and 2003 letters from Department declining to approve UKB proposal to
enter into a PL 638 contract for law enforcement, realty, and tribal court programs, and including
statements that the “UKB lacks a jurisdictional land base over which it can exercise territorial
jurisdiction;” that the UKB “lacks authority to exercise territorial jurisdiction over any area of
Indian Country;” and that the Secretary “has consistently opined that the Cherokee Nation
exercise exclusive jurisdiction over trust and restricted lands within the former Cherokee treaty
boundaries”).
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UKB shares the Nation’s “former reservation” can be harmonized with previous Departmental

decisions.

Finally, the ASIA failed to mention (and obviously to consider) evidence refuting the

Department’ successor-in-interest theory, including the Nation’s detailed comments and

voluminous supporting exhibits contained in the Nation’s June 18, 2007 letter (“2007 letter”),

December 1, 2011 letter (“2011 letter”) and September 21, 2009 answer brief (“2009 brief”).

Doc. 32-3, AR1195-1346; Doc. 30-17, AR426-564; Doc. 36-3, AR3591-3630.13 According to

the 2009 brief, “not one document” indicated or stated that UKB was initially organized to

replace or share with the Cherokee Nation, become a successor-in-interest to the historic

Cherokee Nation, or exercise jurisdiction over lands within the Cherokee Nation’s treaty

boundaries. Doc. 36-3, AR3603. This conclusion was supported by many of the 76 historical

documents (not yet in the record due to DOI’s submission of an incomplete record) attached to

the 2009 brief, including several documents showing that UKB was originally organized to

perform only social and economic activities, not governmental services. Doc. 36-3, AR3603-

3605.

B. Irreparable Harm to the Nation Will Result If a Trust Deed Is Issued.

1. Introduction

If title is transferred to the United States in trust for the UKB Corporation, the Cherokee

Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm. “A plaintiff satisfies the irreparable harm requirement by

demonstrating ‘a significant risk that he or she will experience harm that cannot be compensated

after the fact by monetary damages’.” Crowe & Dunlevy, P.C., 609 F.Supp.2d 1211, 1222

(N.D.Okl. 2009) quoting RoDa Drilling Co. v. Siegal, 552 F.3d 1203, 1210 (10th Cir. 2009).

13 Although the Department abandoned use of the term “successor-in-interest” before
rendering decisions on the 76-acre and gaming tract applications, many of the arguments and
exhibits are equally relevant to consideration of the Department's “former reservation" finding.
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While purely speculative harm is not sufficient, “[a] plaintiff who can show a significant risk of

irreparable harm has demonstrated that the harm is not speculative” and will be held to have

satisfied that burden. Id. Finally, in determining this factor, the court should assess “whether

such harm is likely to occur before the district court rules on the merits.” Id.

2. Irreparable Harm will Occur Because There is No Legal
Certainty that the Department Can Return Tribal Trust Land
to Fee Status After the Issuance of a Trust Deed.

There is a significant risk of irreparable harm to the Cherokee Plaintiffs if a trust deed to

the Gaming Tract is issued to the UKB Corporation while this suit is pending, due to the

potential irrevocability of the transfer. Current regulations, 25 C.F.R. §151.12(b), require the

ASIA to provide a 30-day notice of intent to take a tract into trust, in order to afford parties an

opportunity to judicially challenge that decision before issuance of a trust deed. Section

151.12(b) was promulgated in 1996 to address Departmental concern that the Quiet Title Act

("QTA"), 28 U.S.C. §2409(a), barred an APA suit challenging the ASIA’s authority to accept

land into trust under the IRA. This concern arose from the Department's view that the QTA (as

opposed to the APA) provided the sole waiver of immunity from suit involving the United

States’ title to land, subject to the exception that the QTA’s waiver of immunity from suit “does

not apply to trust or restricted Indian lands.” 28 U.S.C. § 2409a(a); see "Land Acquisitions," 61

Fed. Reg. 18082 (Apr. 24, 1996).

The ASIA implemented the 30-day notice requirement in §151.12(b) in the present case.

The ASIA also implemented Departmental procedures by issuing the Self-Stay Letter. See

Trust-to-Trust Handbook at 15 (If a lawsuit is filed within the 30-day period, the DOI will “take

no further action until the judicial review process has been exhausted.”). The Department now

seeks to violate the spirit and intent of § 151.12(b) and its own policies and procedures by

withdrawing the Self-Stay Letter. The Department claims such authority based on Patchak v.
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Salazar, 132 S.Ct. 2199 (2012), which involved a third party's challenge to the Secretary's

decision to place land into trust on behalf of an Indian tribe. In Patchak, the Supreme Court

rejected the Department's interpretation of the QTA, concluding that “the QTA’s reservation of

sovereign immunity does not bar Patchak’s [APA] suit.” Id. The Court reasoned that the QTA

applies to quiet title actions brought by persons claiming an ownership interest in the land, and

that an action by a third party who is merely challenging a Departmental decision under the APA

to place land into trust is not a quiet title action subject to QTA limitations.

In response to the Patchak decision, in May 2013 the Secretary published a notice of a

proposed amendment of §151.12(b) to eliminate the requirement for the 30 day notice of a final

Departmental decision prior to taking any land into trust on behalf of an Indian tribe. See, 78

Fed. Reg. 32214 (May 29, 2013). The proposed change is currently open to comment and it will

be months, if ever, before the new rule takes effect. In the meantime, the Department has taken

inconsistent approaches to the issue of whether a trust deed should be issued while litigation

challenging a trust acquisition approval is pending. The Secretary agreed to a self-stay regarding

deed issuance in this case and at least one other case. See Confederated Tribes of the Grand

Ronde Community of Oregon v. Jewell, Case No. 13-CV-849 D.D.C), ECF Doc. 5, Stipulation

and Joint Proposed Schedule. In two other cases involving issuance of trust deeds during

pending litigation, the Department has taken the position that it has authority to take land out of

trust under certain conditions. See Stand Up for California! v. North Fork Rancheria of Mono

Indians, Case No.12-cv-2039, (D.D.C), ECF Doc.42 (denying motion for preliminary injunction

and discussing irreparable harm issue); Cahil Dehe Band of Wintun Indians v. Salazar, Case No.

12-cv-3021 (E.D. Cal), ECF Doc. 57 (denying motion for temporary restraining order and

discussing irreparable harm issue), ECF Doc. 61 (Joint Status Report at 6 referencing tribal
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waiver of sovereign immunity). However, in those two cases, the consideration of irreparable

harm focused on the Patchak interpretation of the QTA. More significantly, in those cases the

tribal trust beneficiaries expressly agreed to waivers of tribal sovereign immunity involving the

subject tracts and activities on those tracts. Id. These waivers obviously reflect a concern that a

tribal trust beneficiary may still assert tribal sovereign immunity should the Department be

ordered to transfer a trust acquisition back into fee. No such waiver by the UKB is present in

this case.14

Nor would a waiver by the UKB completely eliminate significant risks of irreparable

harm. In addition to tribal sovereign immunity issues, if the Cherokee Plaintiffs are ultimately

successful in this action, the UKB will undoubtedly claim the Secretary does not have the power

to unwind a trust acquisition, and that doing so would be an unconstitutional taking of a property

right of the UKB and a violation of the United States' obligations as a trustee. The Patchak case

did not address either of these issues, and other potential issues,15 which remain unresolved.

Indeed, even DOI cannot state with certainty that the Nation would be left with a remedy

should this Court rule in its favor. In giving notice to the Nation of intent to lift the self-stay

previously imposed, DOI referenced the Patchack decision and stated: "Therefore, the

14 The UKB Corporation would most assuredly raise sovereign immunity in defense of any
action brought by the Nation to remove the land from trust. The Supreme Court has been clear
in that a tribe’s waiver of sovereign immunity “cannot be implied but must be unequivocally
expressed.” Wichita & Affiliated Tribes of Oklahoma, 788 F.2d 765, 773 (quoting Santa Clara
Pueblo v. Martinez, 436 U.S. 49, 58 (1978)); see also Id. at 777 (“[S]ociety has consciously
opted to shield Indian tribes from suit without congressional or tribal consent.”) In most
instances, the intervenor is the entity that is receiving the land into trust. In this case, however,
the intervenor is the UKB and the trust beneficiary is the UKB Corporation. The Corporation
would likely intervene for the sole purpose of moving to dismiss the Nation’s action for failure to
join an indispensible party and assert sovereign immunity from any suit seeking to join UKB
Corporation as a party.
15 For example, the UKB may very well assert that the Indian Non-Intercourse Act, 25
U.S.C. § 177, prohibits the transfer of title of an Indian tribal beneficiary absent Congressional
authorization.
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department’s decision to finalize the 2.03-acre acquisition should not affect the Cherokee

Nation’s remedies at law." Doc. 76-1, Revocation of Self-Stay Letter (emphasis added). More

importantly, there are no regulations currently in place setting out the procedure for unwinding a

trust acquisition if a court finds that the ASIA erred in taking the land into trust, and there appear

to have been no cases to date in which trust land has been taken out of trust status after issuance

of a trust deed as a result of a challenge to a trust acquisition decision. The legal status of this

issue is simply too speculative and poses a significant risk or irreparable harm, particularly in a

case such as this, in which the likelihood of success is so strong.

3. Irreparable Harm Will Occur Because Issuance of a Trust
Deed Will Cause Serious Jurisdictional Conflicts Between the
Cherokee Nation and the UKB.

The issuance of a trust deed for the Gaming Tract will, for the first time since the

Cherokee Nation entered the treaty conveying the Oklahoma reservation to the Nation, result in a

foreign Indian tribe asserting jurisdiction over the land within the Cherokee Nation’s Treaty

Territory, and will result in irreparable harm. In her April 19, 2011 letter, the Regional Director

provided a detailed explanation of the reasons for her conclusion that the proposed acquisition of

the Gaming Tract in trust for the UKB Corporation would result in serious jurisdictional conflicts

between the Nation and the UKB. See Declaration of Todd Hembree, Exhibit B (Exhibit 1

attached hereto) (“Hembree Declaration”) While all are serious concerns, law enforcement

issues are especially volatile. The Cherokee Nation has a cross-deputization agreement with the

State of Oklahoma, agreed to by the Bureau of Indian Affairs, relating to sharing resources with

state and federal officials for law enforcement within the Nation’s geographical boundaries.16 If

the Gaming Tract is placed in trust and becomes Indian country, the UKB can be expected to

16 ICA No. 93-0019, “Cross-Deputization Agreement between the Cherokee Nation, the
State of Oklahoma, and the U.S. Government,” filed Oct. 10, 1994, Oklahoma Secretary of State.
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obstruct Cherokee Nation Marshals’ exercise of police authority at the site, potentially wreaking

havoc with the Marshals” working relationship with the county and resulting in criminal

jurisdictional issues, to the detriment of gaming patrons.

An Indian Tribe’s sovereign governmental authority to regulate the activities within its

jurisdiction is a unique and intangible power, the interference with which is not easily calculable

and certainly not fully compensable with money damages. Prairie Band of Potawatomi Indians

v. Pierce, 253 F.3d 1234, 1250 (10th Cir. 2001) (determining that a “significant interference with

tribal self-government constitutes irreparable harm”), (quoting Seneca-Cayuga Tribe v. State of

Okla., 874 F.2d 709, 716 (10th Cir. 1989) (affirming the grant of preliminary injunction).

4. Irreparable Harm Will Occur Because Issuance of a Trust
Deed Will Result in Economic Damage for Which There Is No
Adequate Remedy at Law.

When the illegal UKB casino shuts down on July 31, its patrons will have only one other

gaming option in the Tahlequah area—i.e., the Cherokee casino in Tahlequah. Thus, there is

every reason to believe that at least some of those individuals will visit the Cherokee casino and

spend their dollars there. Accordingly, if the DOI takes the land into trust on August 14, thus

allowing the UKB to resume its gaming operation and engage in direct competition with CNE’s

Tahlequah casino, CNE will incur damages in the form of lost customers and lost profits. See,

e.g., Robert Bosch LLC v. Pylong Mf’g Corp., 659 F.3d 1142, 1151 (Fed. Cir. 2011) (noting in

patent infringement case that “the existence of a two-player market may well serve as a

substantial ground for granting an injunction—e.g., because it creates an inference that an

infringing sale amounts to a lost sale for the patentee”). Allowing this competition to occur from

August 14 until resolution of the merits of this action—competition that would not exist but for

the DOI’s issuance of a trust deed—would clearly subject CNE to irreparable harm.
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A plaintiff satisfies the irreparable harm requirement by showing “a significant risk that

[it] will experience harm that cannot be compensated after the fact by monetary damages.”

RoDa, 552 F.3d at 1210 (internal quotation marks omitted). Although “economic loss is usually

insufficient to constitute irreparable harm,” it is well established in the Tenth Circuit that

“‘[i]mposition of money damages that cannot later be recovered for reasons such as sovereign

immunity constitutes irreparable injury.’” Crowe, 640 F.3d at 1157 (10th Cir. 2011) (quoting

Chamber of Commerce v. Edmonson, 594 F.3d 742, 770-71 (10th Cir. 2010)) (alteration in

original).

Thus, in both Crowe and Edmonson, the Tenth Circuit found the requisite irreparable

harm where, as here, the plaintiff was likely to incur damages as the result of actions taken by a

governmental entity that enjoyed sovereign immunity from suit and thus could not be forced to

reimburse the plaintiffs for those damages. See Crowe, 640 F.3d at 1157-58 (district court

properly enjoined tribal judge from ordering law firm to return attorneys’ fees to the tribal

treasury because if law firm prevailed in current federal court action, the tribe’s sovereign

immunity would prevent the firm from suing for the return of those fees in any court other than

tribal court); Edmonson, 594 F.3d at 771 (if plaintiffs were forced to comply with challenged law

during the pendency of that case, they would likely suffer economic losses that sovereign

immunity would prevent them from recovering from the State if their challenge to the law was

successful); see also Prairie Band of Potawatomi Indians v. Pierce, 253 F.3d 1234, 1251 (10th

Cir. 2001) (affirming preliminary injunction preventing the State from enforcing its motor

vehicle registration laws against tribal members during pendency of suit brought by tribe

challenging that practice because “[n]ot only is harm to tribal self-government not easily subject

to valuation, but also, and perhaps more important, monetary relief might not be available to the
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tribe because of the state’s sovereign immunity.”); Air Conditioning, Heating & Refrigeration

Inst. v. City of Albuquerque, 2008 WL 5586316, at *5 (D.N.M. Oct. 3, 2008) (“Where a plaintiff

cannot recover damages from the defendant due to the defendant’s sovereign immunity, any

economic loss suffered by a plaintiff is irreparable per se.”) (citing Kan. Health Care Ass’n, Inc.

v. Kan. Dep’t of Soc. & Rehab. Servs., 31 F.3d 1536, 1543 (10th Cir. 1994).

Here, CNE will incur economic damages if DOI takes the land into trust and permits the

UKB to resume gaming in direct competition with CNE. However, DOI’s sovereign immunity

would likely prevent CNE from recovering even a dime of those damages. Therefore, there is a

“significant risk” that CNE “will experience harm that cannot be compensated after the fact by

monetary damages.” RoDa, 552 F.3d at 1210. Accordingly, CNE is likely to suffer irreparable

harm in the absence of injunctive relief.

C. There is Little Possibility of Harm to Defendants if Relief is Granted.

“After determining the harm that would be suffered by the moving party if the

preliminary injunction is not granted, the court must then weigh that harm against the harm to the

defendant if the injunction is granted.” Crowe, 609 F.Supp.2d at 1224. Defendants will suffer

no cognizable injury should this Court stay the transfer until proper judicial review. Providing

the injunctive relief requested will be merely maintaining the status quo.

"[T]he status quo is 'the last uncontested status between the parties which preceded the

controversy until the outcome of the final hearing.'" Schrier v. University of Colorado, 427 F. 3d

1253, 1260 (10th Cir. 2005) (emphasis added) (quoting Dominion Video Satellite, Inc. v.

EchoStar Satellite Corp., 269 F. 3d 1149, 1155 (10th Cir. 2001) (quoting SCFC ILC, Inc. v. Visa

USA, Inc., 936 F.2d 1096, 1100 n.8 (10th Cir. 1991), overruled on other grounds, O Centro

Espirita Beneficiente Uniao Do Vegetal v. Ashcroft, 389 F. 3d 973, 975 (10th Cir. 2004)). It is

also described as the "'last peaceable uncontested status existing between the parties before the
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dispute developed.'" Schrier, 427 F. 3d at 1260 (emphasis added). "In determining the status quo

for preliminary injunctions, this court looks to the reality of the existing status and relationship

between the parties and not solely to the parties' legal rights." Schrier, 427 F. 3d at 1260.

The ASIA described the status quo as follows: “We understand that up to 300 tribal

employees will lose their jobs. In order to preserve the status quo and preserve these jobs during

difficult economic times, the department has decided to proceed with the trust acquisition.” See,

Doc. 76-1, Self-stay Revocation Letter. This is not the status quo. The Gaming Tract is located

on fee land and subject to laws of the state of Oklahoma as it has been for more than 25 years.

The only entity impacted by the grant of the injunction would be Intervenor UKB who will no

longer be allowed to operate a casino on the Gaming Tract as it has been doing in violation of

state and federal law for the past 25 years. See U.S. v. Rx Depot, Inc., 290 F.Supp.2d 1238, 1247

(N.D. Okla., 2003 (“preserving the ‘status quo’ as defendants define it would mean protecting

illegal activity.”)

The status quo is that the land is in fee status; a foreign Indian tribe has never, in the more

than 175 years since the Cherokee Nation acquired its reservation in Oklahoma, been authorized

by the United States government to exercise jurisdiction over land within the Cherokee historical

jurisdictional boundaries; and that, as between the Nation, the DOI and UKB Corporation, the

Nation is the only Indian tribe exercising governmental jurisdiction over trust lands within the

Nation’s historical jurisdictional boundaries. There is therefore no harm in delaying the possible

transfer of the Gaming Tract into trust for the UKB Corporation until the parties have

adjudicated this case on its merits.

D. There is a Strong Public Interest in Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion

The issuance of a preliminary injunction will not be adverse to the public interest. It is

clear that “[t]he public interest is served when administrative agencies comply with their
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obligations under the APA.” N. Mariana Islands v. United States, 686 F.Supp. 2d 7, 21 (D.D.C.

2009). The public interest cannot be served by Defendants’ failure to comply with the IRA, the

OIWA and the IGRA as Plaintiffs have set forth in this brief. The Court should “give great

weight to the fact that Congress already declared the public’s interest and created a regulatory

and enforcement framework.” In re Sac & Fox Tribe of Mississippi in Iowa/Meskwaki Casino

Litig., 340 F.3d 749, 760 (8th Cir. 2003).

Congress stated the purpose of IGRA was to promote tribal economic development, self-

sufficiency, and strong tribal governments and to ensure that the Indian tribe was the primary

beneficiary of the gaming operations. See 25 U.S.C. § 2702. Issuing a preliminary injunction

would further the purposes of the IGRA, which is concerned with protecting gaming as a source

of Indian economic development. If one tribe (UKB) is permitted to operate gaming within the

jurisdictional territory of another tribe (Cherokee Nation), the policy as to the second would be

undermined. “Congress viewed effective regulation and respect for regulatory authority as being

in the public’s interest.” Id. at 760. The public interest is served, therefore, by maintaining the

status quo which is that the Nation is the only Indian tribe exercising governmental jurisdiction

over trust lands within the Nation’s historical jurisdictional boundaries.

CONCLUSION

A preliminary injunction would preserve the status quo until there is a proper judicial

review of the administrative record of this case – which is presently an incomplete record. The

Cherokee Nation has a strong likelihood of success on the merits in light of the Department'

unprecedented and unsupported decisions that the OIWA authorizes a federal chartered tribal

corporation to serve as a trust beneficiary of title held in trust by the United States (as a rationale

for the sole purpose of circumventing the Carcieri decision), and that the UKB has a shared
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"former" reservation with the Nation (for purposes of circumventing stringent IGRA

requirements for after-acquired lands and bypassing regulations requiring the Nation's consent).

Preservation of the status quo (i.e., the fee status of the Gaming Tract) will not cause harm to the

UKB, particularly when weighed against the irreparable harm that issuance of a trust deed will

cause to the Nation, due to the strong uncertainties concerning the Department's legal ability to

take the land out of trust, the serious jurisdictional conflicts that will arise between the Nation

and the UKB, and the absence of a remedy at law for economic harm. Maintenance of the title in

fee pending the outcome will prevent the establishment of a precedent rewarding a tribe (UKB)

for its longstanding illegal gaming practices, which is in the public interest. Plaintiffs

respectfully request that the Court enjoin the transfer pending a resolution of this action on the

merits.

Respectfully submitted,

Doerner, Saunders, Daniel
& Anderson, L.L.P.

By: s/David M. McCullough
David McCullough, OBA No. 10898
S. Douglas Dodd, OBA No. 2389
Two West Second Street, Suite 700
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74103-3117
Telephone: (918) 582-1211
Facsimile: (918) 925-5316
dmccullough@dsda.com
sddodd@dsda.com
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s/Todd Hembree
Todd Hembree , OBA No. 14739
Attorney General
Cherokee Nation
P.O. Box 948
Tahlequah, OK 74465-0948
Tel: (918) 456-0671
Fax: (918) 458-5580

Attorneys for The Cherokee Nation

s/David E. Keglovits
David E. Keglovits, OBA No. 14259
Amelia A. Fogleman, OBA No. 16221
GableGotwals
100 West Fifth Street, Suite 1100
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74103-4217
Telephone: (918) 595-4800
Facsimile: (918) 595-4990

Attorneys for Cherokee Nation
Entertainment, LLC
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